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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN 
	Applicant
	Mr J Speed

	Scheme
	Salmon Speed Architects Retirement and Death Benefit No.2 Scheme (the Scheme)

	Respondents
	Mr Burrell and Mr Salter, two of the trustees of the Scheme.


Subject

Mr Speed complains, as a member, that two of his fellow trustees, Messrs Burrell and Salter, are preventing him from receiving his full retirement benefits from the Scheme by refusing to accept the Rules of the Scheme and his share of the Fund.  He contends that these other trustees wish to change the way in which the assets should be divided from what the Independent Trustee, Rowanmoor, and him understand to be the case.
The Deputy Pensions Ombudsman’s determination and short reasons

The complaint should be partly upheld against the respondents because the current Trust Deed is not being followed.  In particular the parts of the Trust Deed that set out the factors to have regard to and the action to take when unanimous decisions cannot be reached do not appear to have been followed and the resultant lack of decision making is preventing Mr Speed from drawing his full retirement benefits from the Scheme.  If all the Trustees cannot agree a solution within the two weeks following the date of this determination, taking into account those factors that the current Trust Deed states they should now have regard to; the matter should be referred to an expert for a final decision on the share/split of the Fund.

DETAILED DETERMINATION
1.   Part 20 (Small Self Administered Schemes) of the Inland Revenue Practice Notes, which applied prior to 6 April 2006, said that pensions should normally be secured from outset by the purchase of an annuity from a life office, though the Rules may provide for the purchase to be deferred (subject to other paragraphs) and that deferment may not extend beyond age 75.  The intention of allowing deferment was to provide flexibility in deciding the most opportune time to purchase an annuity rather than automatic deferral to age 75 (paragraphs 20.38, 20.39 and 20.40 of those Practice Notes refer).

The governing documentation for the Scheme

2. Clause 11 (Administration) of the (first) definitive trust deed dated 24 June 1994 generally provided for a decision of, or a resolution signed by, a majority of the Trustees to be binding on all the Trustees unless the deed or any regulation made by the Trustees required otherwise.  Also, two trustees would form a quorum at any meeting.
3. Clause 23 (a) of this deed also allowed the Trustees to amend any of the provisions of the Deed or of the Rules, but generally no amendment could be made if it either reduced the amount payable to any pensioner or annuitant or if it directly and substantially reduced the value of the interest in the Fund in respect of accrued benefits of any member who had not reached normal retirement date.  The only caveat was unless the reduction recommended in actuarial advice was necessary or advisable having regard to the financial statement of the Fund.
4. The Rules adopted by the (first) definitive trust deed defined who were a Member, a Deferred Pensioner and a Pensioner.  They also defined what was meant by a Member’s Credit, though they did not specifically refer to a Pensioner’s Credit.  Within the definitions of what comprises a Member Credit, negative account may be taken of any annuities or other outgoings effected for the benefit of the member as the Trustees shall determine to be equitable.  The Rules also stated,
“12.
BENEFITS ON LEAVING SERVICE
(a)
If a Member leaves the Service before Normal Retirement Date for any reason other than his retirement or death he may elect one of the following options:–

…
(ii)
to take a pension for life commencing at Normal Retirement Date calculated as provided in sub-Rule (c).  …
…

(c)
The pension under sub-Rule (a) (ii) shall be the greater of:

(i)
An amount which shall compare reasonably with, or shall exceed in value, the amounts contributed by the Member under Rule 3 (a)
(ii)
Such pension as can be secured by the Member’s Credit after provision for other benefits or, if less, the Member’s Aggregate Retirement Benefit
.
“18.
BENEFITS ON LEAVING SERVICE
(b)
All pensions and annuities will be payable for life and will, within five years of commencement in the case of a Member’s pension …, be secured by the purchase of an annuity from an Insurance Company unless the Board of Inland Revenue agree otherwise.

5. The (second) definitive trust deed dated 8 August 2006 says,
“1.
Definitions and Interpretation
1.1
Words and expressions used in this Definitive Deed shall have the following meanings:”
“Accumulated Credit means, in relation to any Member, Deferred Pensioner or, if applicable, Pensioner subject to the following provisions of this definition (Person) that part of the Fund which is determined by the Trustees subject to the following provisions of this definition as relating to the relevant Person at that time, having regard to:

(a)
the contribution paid into the Scheme on behalf of the Person by the Employers and (if relevant) by the Person;
(b)
any transfer amounts paid into the Scheme on behalf of the Person;
(c)
the income and capital position of the Fund (after allowing for expenses and other deductions); and
(d)
any other matters which the Trustees consider appropriate.
Nothing in this definition shall confer on any person any right to any specific assets of the Fund which may be allotted to him on a notional basis for the sole purpose of determining the value of his Accumulated Credit from time to time.  The Trustees may, in determining the Accumulated Credit in respect of a Person, have regard to the advice of an Actuary, but nothing in this definition shall oblige the Trustees to take the advice of an Actuary when determining any Accumulated Credit.

The Trustees shall in exercising their powers to determine the Accumulated Credit in respect of a Person exercise them in such manner that they are satisfied that their determination will not result in an Unauthorised Payment, or in an Unauthorised Payment being treated as having been made.  Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the Trustees shall exercise their powers in a manner which they are satisfied will not given rise to an Unauthorised Payment, or to an Unauthorised Payment being treated as having been made, pursuant to,

(a)
…”

“8.
Trustee Meetings
…

8.4
Decisions at Trustee meetings (or sub-committee meetings) must be unanimous.  If the Trustees cannot reach a unanimous decision on any matter (excluding decisions relating to the termination or winding up of the Scheme) the matter shall be referred to an expert unanimously appointed by the Trustees whose determination shall be binding on the Trustees.  The costs of any such expert shall be an expense of the Scheme for the purposes of clause 15”.
“15.
Scheme Expenses
15.1
The costs and expenses of running the Scheme shall be paid from the Fund unless the Principal Employer decides that they shall be paid by the Employers (in such proportions as the Principal Employer shall decide)”.

 “16.
Control of the Fund
16.3
Subject to clause 16.7, the Trustees may from time to time nominally allocate the assets from the Fund for such purposes as they decide and may change any such allocation from time to time, provided Registration is not thereby prejudiced”.

…

16.7
The Trustees shall exercise their powers under clause 16.3 in a manner which they are satisfied will not result in the Scheme making or being treated as having made an Unauthorised Payment.  Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the Trustees shall exercise their powers in a manner which they are satisfied will not give rise to an Unauthorised Payment or to an Unauthorised Payment being treated as having been made, pursuant to,
(a)
section 173 of the FA 2004 (Assignment);

(b)
section 172A of the FA 2004 (Surrender);

(c)
section 172B of the FA 2004 (increase in rights of connected person on death);

(d)
section 172C of the FA 2004 (Allocation of unallocated employer contributions);

(e)
section 174 of the FA 2004 (Value shifting); or

(f)
section 181 of the FA 2004 (Value shifting).
Material Facts

6. Salmon Speed Architects was originally a partnership.  However, the business was incorporated from 29 June 1979, becoming Salmon Speed Architects Limited.

7. The Scheme, a small self-administered scheme, was established by an Interim Trust Deed dated 4 September 1986 and was initiated when the principal company’s offices were put up for sale.  The property (Tuscan Studios in Muswell Hill, London) was the main asset of the Scheme.  The principal company was Salmon Speed Architects Limited (SSAL) and no other company/employer participated in the Scheme.  The whole of the offices were rented to SSAL who, in turn, sub-let the ground floor offices to another tenant.
8. The members comprised the four directors of SSAL; these were Mr Speed, the two respondents and another person, Mr S (who is not part of this complaint).  Mr S retired in 1990 and his benefits were secured by the purchase of an annuity, based on the then property valuation of £250,000.  The bank loan was extended from around £20,000 to £105,000 to provide liquidity to cover Mr S’s benefits.
9. On 6 April 1994 Mr Speed left SSAL.  From later documents, it seems SSAL had experienced difficult times due to the recession and it was agreed Mr Speed would ‘retire’, though he did not take his benefits at that time and became a deferred pensioner under the Scheme.  Mr Speed says he neither sold nor retained any shareholding in SSAL.  Mr Burrell says SSAL at that time had debts in excess of assets and their accountant valued the shares as zero which Mr Speed accepted in a letter of 22 March 1995.  A letter of resignation and transfer of his shares in SSAL enabled their accountant to submit relevant forms to Companies House.
10. The (first) definitive Trust Deed dated 24 June 1994 contained and adopted the Rules of the Scheme.  At that time, the Trustees were the applicant, the two respondents and Dunlaw Pension Trustees Limited (Dunlaw), who also fulfilled the role of Pensioneer Trustee.  The Scheme’s advisor was Duncan Lawrie Pension Consultants Limited (Duncan Lawrie), which was associated to Dunlaw.
11. Normal retirement date (NRD) was defined as the member’s 60th birthday under the ‘1994’ Rules.  Although Mr Speed reached his NRD in August 1994, contrary to Rule 12 (a) (ii) he did not take his benefits at that time.

12. The actuarial valuation of the Scheme as at 30 June 1995 stated that according to the Scheme’s accounts the total net assets were £88,883, which reflected the property’s value of £200,000 less a loan from National Westminster (NatWest) Bank plc of £111,117.  The actuarial report, dated 10 September 1996, for this valuation did not give a breakdown of how the net assets of the Scheme were attributed among the three members, though Mr Speed is recorded as a pensioner since he was passed his NRD.  Even so, no pension in payment is shown for him.
13. In a letter dated 6 June 1996 to NatWest Bank plc, Countrywide stated that, based on an inspection on 3 June 1996, an existing value for the property would be in the region of £270,000.  Countrywide, having had sight of the proposed plans to extend the property, also provided an ‘extended property value’ which was stated to be in the region of £310,000.  It noted the ‘ground floor’ lease expired in July 1996 and a new rent of £11,456 a year had been agreed.  Mr Burrell says this was prepared in case bank approval was needed for another loan to cover this work.
14. Mr Burrell wrote to Duncan Lawrie on 11 June 1996 saying the premises had been surveyed in order to prepare a valuation in respect of Mr Speed’s retirement.  He also said they were about to carry out work for additional office space for the existing sub-tenant and an estimate of the increase in value would be provided.
15. Audited accounts for the Scheme for the year ending 30 June 1996 stated income of £36,000 (made up of £20,000 from contributions and £16,000 from rent) and expenditure of £9,213 from bank charges and interest.  The net assets were stated to be £115,670 based on the property’s value of £200,000 and loans of £84,330 (of which £10,000 was from SSAL and £74,330 was from NatWest Bank).

16. Two surveyors (Countrywide and Martin Gerrard) gave written valuations on the property in July 1996.  Countrywide’s letter of 23 July is addressed to SSAL following its instructions to prepare a valuation of the freehold interest in the property for ‘pension fund equity investment’.  It reiterated the £270,000 figure previously given to NatWest, though it did not comment on any increased value derived from any extension works.  It noted there was a notional lease between the Trustees/Scheme and the Principal Company and as there did not appear to be a formal lease it valued the property on the assumption of vacant possession subject to the sub-lease.  No reference was made to the rental income.  Martin Gerrard’s valuation dated 19 July 1996 was addressed to the Trustees and opined that the then present value of the property was in the region of £180,000.  This was based in part on the ground floor rental of £5,000 a year for 14 years from December 1985 and first floor rental having recently increased from £8,000 to £11,000 a year.

17. In a letter of 16 September 1996 to Duncan Lawrie, Mr Burrell sent notes on the proposal for Mr Speed’s pension.  His letter said,
“This assumes that we can agree an interim figure for the valuation of the property and that this can be used to estimate a pension payment.   We then adjust the payment to suit any revision to the valuation.  We also need to know the mechanism for reviewing the Pension Fund share, taking payments made into account, so that further reassessment of the Fund can be made”.

18. The accompanying notes were headed ‘Proposal for pension arrangements for Mr Speed for comment’ and said,

 “1.
Retained interest in the property for J Speed



JS will retain an interest in the property by way of reviewing the value of the property (and hence the total fund) at a later period.  This may happen when improved information causes a reappraisal of the value of the property or it may coincide with the time when the property will need to be sold to resolve all outstanding commitments including an annuity for JS and possibly to determine a pension for JB.

2.
SSA’s interest in the property


SSA would wish for the property not to be sold unless …

3.
Recent Valuations


Valuations have been received for the premises which are wildly different.  This has caused a dilemma.  The difference may be indicative of the uncertainty of obtaining the right buyer.  The only true way of knowing is to sell.  In the meantime we can either:

a)
Employ a third party to advise 

b)
Agree between the Trustees a notional value pending a review or sale at a later date.

…

4.
Resolving the differences


The different valuations highlight the seriousness of getting the valuation wrong.  If the property is undervalued then JS will get an insufficient amount for his pension.  If the property is over valued, when the property is eventually disposed of, taking into account the outstanding loan and considering the small amount remaining this could easily result in negative equity.  In the interim period the Pension Fund would be a poor vehicle for further contributions.
5.
Valuations for Tuscan Studios to date:


Valuation 1986 Alan Crisp


£157,000


Valuation 1988 Martin Gerrard

£212,000


Valuation 1989 Black Horse Simpson
£250,000


Valuation 1992 (as above & verbal)

£150,000


Valuation 1996 Countrywide


£270,000


Valuation 1996 Martin Gerrard

£180,000

6.
Progressing the Pension Payments


I propose that an interim assessment be made of the value of the Fund and be used to determine an interim pension level for [Mr] Speed to be paid until the Trustees are able to reassess the situation.

7 
Valuation of the Fund


When the interim valuation amount for the premises has been agreed we can determine the valuation of the Fund and [Mr] Speed’s fund holding amount.  …
8.
Provisional Amount


Based on information available to date and assuming a valuation of the property of £220,000 I have produced an assessment of the Fund Shares of the Pension Fund at June 1996.
…”.

19. Mr Speed started taking his benefits with effect from 10 October 1996; though in the Scheme’s book keeping records/spreadsheet the first pension payment of £455.30 is not shown as having been made until 22 May 1997 with the lump sum of £18,652 being settled on 11 June 1997.  A figure of £73,828 (as opposed to £76,435) is noted less £18,652 (as opposed to £21,259) resulting in a residual fund value of £55,176.  Mr Burrell says that pending the formal commencement of Mr Speed’s pension SSAL had supported Mr Speed by monthly payments which were intended to be deducted from the eventual award.
20. The property was developed by being extended.  At that time SSAL paid for this work.  Correspondence dated 27 November 1996 between Mr Ellis of SSAL and TEB (Builders) Ltd about adjustments on some building work items’ costs confirmed the overall cost of the work as £17,621.39.  After a 3% retention (£528.64) and VAT of £2,991.23 the total cost was £20,083.98.

21. Having agreed a valuation of the Fund, Mr Burrell provided Duncan Lawrie on 17 January 1997 with additional information relating to Mr Speed’s average pensionable salary.  He also commented in his letter on the amount of tax-free cash sum and that there may also need to be an adjustment for amounts which they had paid to Mr Speed since October.
22. Duncan Lawrie subsequently wrote to Mr Speed on 12 February 1997 with details of his benefits.  They said,

“It has been agreed (and I would be grateful for your written confirmation on this point) that the fund available from the Scheme for the provision of your benefits is £76,435 as at 10 October 1996.  I understand that this has been calculated as being 65% of net Scheme assets of £117,600.

After deduction of the lump sum of £21,259.34 an amount of £55,175.66 is available for the purchase of an annuity.

As you are aware, you and your co-trustees have made the decision not to purchase an annuity now, but to defer this until some time in the future. 

I shall be writing to you presently with details of the pension with which you can be provided in the meantime (and this has to be certified by an actuary as being within 10% of the annuity which could be secured now) and …”

23. The parties say a pension of £5,727 a year has subsequently been paid to Mr Speed, though the Scheme’s Accounts reflect slightly different figures.
24. On 12 February Duncan Lawrie also wrote to Mr Burrell to inform him of the affect payment of Mr Speed’s benefits would have on the Scheme’s ability to borrow further, which had caused the Scheme at that time to exceed the borrowing limit set by the Inland Revenue (now HM Revenue and Customs).  They also said, although an annuity did not have to be purchased before Mr Speed attained age 75 it was a requirement that liquid assets (i.e. not property) should be available in the Scheme for such a purpose from the time of his 70th birthday, and the amount of Mr Speed’s pension would have to be reviewed at every triennial actuarial valuation.

25. Mr Burrell replied to Duncan Lawrie on 25 February 1997 asking whether there would still be a need to review Mr Speed’s pension at every triennial valuation if they had not agreed to review the pension fund amount in respect of the value of the property.  He queried if the only cause for variation of Mr Speed’s fund, based on a pro rata increase or decrease of the property value, was the change in value of the property or if Mr Speed still shared in the ups and down of the general performance of the fund.  If the former, he suggested the simplistic way of adopting this method would be to vary the fund/pension according to the percentage change in the property valuation.  He said it would be best if they could air these problems and agree how the fund would be managed in this regard. 
26. Duncan Lawrie responded by letter on 27 March 1997 saying,

”Essentially, in cases like this where it has been decided to delay purchasing an annuity, the main reason for having a triennial reassessment of the level of pension being paid is to take account both of the investment performance of the fund in the interim period and of any change in the general level of annuity rates.

The intention behind this is to smooth out changes in the level of pension between the time when it starts and when an annuity eventually is purchased.

More specifically, I agree that it is essential that we identify and “ring fence” [Mr Speed’s] share of the fund and agree how it should be valued periodically.

…

Given … [Mr Speed’s] share of the fund reduces to £55,175.66 as at 10 October 1996 and this can be expressed as 25.08% of the property value of £220,000.

At the next triennial review, the property would be revalued, to say, £x.

[Mr Speed’s] share of the fund would then be:

25.08% of £x

Plus
25.08% of the value of the notional commercial rent received over the period

Less
the value of the pension instalments paid to him.

[Mr Speed’s] new share of the fund, as calculated above, would then be expressed as a percentage of the £x the new property value.

Subsequent reassessments then would be dealt with in a similar manner, each time [Mr Speed’s] share of the fund becoming a new percentage of the new property value.

I believe that the above would meet what I think both parties want to achieve but perhaps we can all arrange to meet here to discuss the matter further.
27. Mr Burrell wrote to Mr Speed on 4 April saying the main problem with the updating of him in the fund (putting aside considerations of the property valuation) would be subject to the formula involving notional rent.  He considered this difficult to resolve and could lead to a distortion.  Also, he said the basis of the formula was dubious as the profit of the Pension Fund was dependent upon other aspects such as expenses including interest charges on the loan.
28. Unaudited accounts for the Scheme for the year ending 30 June 1997 stated net withdrawals from dealing with members of £4,778 (made up of £26,227 from contributions minus benefit payments of £24,517 and expenses of £6,488).  Investment returns of £18,373 reflected receivable rent of £16,000 and £2,373 from a change in the market value of the investments.  The net assets were stated to be £129,265 based on the property’s value of £220,000 and a loan of £90,735 from NatWest Bank).

29. In view of other, later, correspondence about ‘virtual’ contributions Mr Burrell was asked during this investigation about the contributions shown in the accounts ending 30 June 1997 and those detailed in his spreadsheet of £8,600 (with a separate amount of £17,500 shown for GF extension).  Mr Burrell says that he has spoken to their accountant who prepared these accounts who has said the cost of the works was allocated as pension contributions on behalf of the directors because it would not have counted as a valid expense for the firm and so this would have incurred a tax liability.  Further, Mr Burrell now says this was a change in plan decided at the last minute before filing the accounts and probably explains why they have misinterpreted this allocation.
30. On 18 March 1998 the Trustees received a letter from James Hay (then owned by Abbey National) saying that Duncan Lawrie had been acquired and the Scheme would now be dealt with by them.  A Deed of Removal and Appointment of Trustee was later completed (dated 17 March 1999) removing Dunlaw and appointing James Hay Pension Trustees Limited.

31. On 27 May 1998 a “Situation Summary and Proposals” was prepared by Mr Burrell.  Much of the information outlined in the previous September 1996 proposals was repeated.  Mention is made of how recompense should be made to SSAL in respect of the cost of the improvement works (though nothing was agreed and has been superseded – see paragraph 29 above).  The salient points were:

· It would be a great benefit to be able to agree a fair and detailed way of reviewing the fund, particularly a mechanism for reviewing Mr Speed’s fund.  Six factors which might affect such a review were listed, including the pension payments made, revised valuation (or sale price) of the property, adjustments for ‘general’ property price inflation from October 1996, adjustments for the improvement in the property backdated to October 1996, and income (rent) less expenditure (including interest).

· Two proposals were put forward.  One involved adjusting the presumed sum (£55,175.66) in the ratio of the increase/decrease in the property price relative to £220,000 including what extent the other factors should apply over the short and long term.  The other solution reflected the method set out in Duncan Lawrie’s letter of 27 March 1997.
32. Mr Burrell wrote to Mr Speed on 28 May 1998 informing him that he and Mr Salter had recently met with James Hay and provided a copy of the situation summary dated 27 May.  In his letter, Mr Burrell said he was keen to agree a simple formula to allow a pro-rata adjustment of Mr Speed’s Fund linked to the ups and downs of the property valuation only, i.e. not involving contributions or income/expenses of the Fund as this would be extremely complicated and would need to take account of shifting proportions of the share in the fund as affected by contributions.  As well as commenting that the simpler proposal would set aside Mr Speed’s 25% share, he also said some adjustments should be made to take account of the present commitment by the Fund to a return on the investment put into the ground floor works and for inflationary movement.  This letter also indicated that much time was spent going around in circles trying to find a solution and suggested they all meet after the actuarial review.
33. Mr Speed says he received this letter and took from it that a meeting would be arranged, but a meeting never happened.  The respondents also agree no meeting ever took place.
34. The actuarial valuation of the Scheme as at 30 June 1998 stated the total net assets were £123,042 (as opposed to £127,042).  This figure reflected the property’s value of £220,000 less the loan from NatWest Bank plc of £95,227 and an overdraft of £1,731.  The £4,000 difference is accounted for entirely by whether there was cash in the bank or an overdraft.  The accounts apparently take account of the rent of £4,000 paid on 2 July 1998.  The actuarial report for this valuation, dated 24 November 1998, gave a split of the Scheme’s net assets as Mr Speed (£55,176), Mr Burrell (£41,617) and Mr Salter (£26,249), which according to the Actuary’s report were the splits advised by the Trustees.

35. Unaudited accounts for the Scheme for the years ending 30 June 1998, 1999, 2000 and 2001 stated the following:

Fund / Revenue Account


1998
1999
2000
2001

Income

– Contributions due
£ 0
£ 5,700
£ 5,700
£ 13,700
Expenditure
– Benefits Payable (Pensions)
 ( £ 5,278)
( £ 6,211)
( £ 5,758)
( £ 5,727)
– Bank loan interest
( £ 8,805)
( £ 7,890)
( £ 7,002)
( £ 4,737)
– Bank charges
( £       5)
( £       0)
( £     41)
( £ 1,310)
– Sundry expenses
( £     10)
( £       0)
( £       0)
(£        0)
Net (withdrawals)


from dealing with members
(£ 14,098)
(£ 8,401)
(£ 7,101)
£ 1,926
Returns on Investment

– Rent receivable
£ 11,875
£ 15,300
£ 20,000
£ 46,458
– Change in value of investments
£        0
£ 0
£         0
£         0
Net (decrease) / increase

In the fund during the year
(£ 2,223)
£ 6,899
£ 12,899
£ 48,384
Net Asset Statement

Assets

– Property
220,000
220,000
220,000
220,000
– Bank balances
2,269
168
580
0
– Sundry debtors
0
0
13,000
10,000
Liabilities

– Loan (NatWest)
95,227
86,227
86,227
34,520
– Sundry creditors
0
0
513
256
Assets less Liabilities
127,042
133,941
146,840
195,224
Reconciliation

Opening net assets
129,265
127,042
133,941
146,840
Transfer from Revenue A/c
(2,223)
6,899
12,899
£48,384
Closing net assets
£ 127,042
£ 133,941
£ 146,840
£195,224
36. The actuarial valuation of the Scheme as at 30 June 2001 stated that the total net assets were £225,224 (as opposed to £195,224).  This difference is entirely due to a different property value of £250,000 being used (as opposed to £220,000 in the accounts).  The actuarial report for this valuation, dated 11 June 2002, gave a split of the Scheme’s net assets as Mr Speed (£55,176), Mr Burrell (£117,248) and Mr Salter (£52,800), which according to the Actuary’s report these were the splits advised by the Company.

37. In a letter dated 17 October 2001 to James Hay Pension Trustees Limited, Mr Burrell had set out the split of the Fund between Mr Salter and him for the triennial actuarial valuation and enclosed the Scheme’s accounts.  He also reminded James Hay of how Mr Speed’s entitlement was initially assessed and said Mr Speed was entitled to a review in the event of a change in view of the value of the property.  Despite the property’s value being reviewed, Mr Speed’s share of fund was not changed.
38. Mr Burrell further wrote to James Hay on 20 February 2002 on behalf of Mr Salter and himself confirming their thoughts on the situation regarding the revaluation of the building and the status of Mr Speed’s fund.  He further said they had been advised by their surveyors that the property was difficult to value for a number of reasons which included:
· Situation – a commercial property in a predominantly residential area;

· Unusual setting – semi-industrial, access through a small courtyard;

· Disposition – Ground floor consists of rooms off covered area with narrow plan, no views, limited daylight.

They were concerned that a valuer, if engaged, would not be able to determine a level with any more certainty than was previously assumed.  The respondents questioned whether it was essential to repeat this process at that time.  They explained that it was agreed to revisit the property’s valuation previously used for Mr Speed as there was a particular concern at the time that because of limited assets, if the accepted valuation was too high it could result in low or negative funds for the remaining beneficiaries when the property was eventually sold.  A formula was tendered by Duncan Lawrie and this was the basis that they had been working on in the management of the fund and in presenting the accounts (though Mr Burrell’s spreadsheets reflected a different position).
39. Following Mr Burrell’s letter of 20 February, Mr Speed wrote to James Hay on 2 May 2002 saying he felt this letter was written as the directors and present tenants of the property.  He had understood from James Hay’s letter of February 2001 that the revaluation of the property was due in June 2001 and any established increase in value would be reflected in his pension backdated to June 2001.  However, he had heard no more.  Mr Speed also said he could not believe that the value of the property had not increased, particularly as the property press had commented on the increasing attractions of the Muswell Hill area.  Whilst acknowledging there was nothing ever straightforward in property valuation, he said there were surveyors able to value any property but were not necessarily small local firms with limited experience.  He looked forward to a valuation being made with any increases reflected in his pension.
40. Unaudited accounts for the Scheme for the years ending 30 June 2002, 2003 and 2004 stated the following:

Fund / Revenue Account



2002
2003
2004

Income

– Contributions due
£ 1,425
£ 0
£ 0

Expenditure
– Benefits Payable (Pensions)
( £ 5,727)
( £ 5,875)
( £ 5,727)

– Bank loan interest
( £ 1,825)
( £ 815)
(    £ 247)
Net withdrawals from dealing with members
( £ 6,127)
( £ 6,690)
( £ 5,974)
Returns on Investment

– Rent receivable
£ 18,942
£ 15,486
£ 7,934
– Change in value of investments
£ 30,000
£         0
£         0

Net (decrease) / increase

In the fund during the year
£ 42,815
£ 8,796
£ 1,960
Net Asset Statement

Assets

– Property
250,000
250,000
250,000

– Bank balances
0
0
0

– Sundry debtors
5,000
5,000
0

Liabilities

– Loan (NatWest)
16,745
7,960
1,007
– Sundry creditors
216
205
198
Assets less Liabilities
238,039
246,835
248,795
Reconciliation

Opening net assets
195,224
238,039
246,835
Transfer from Revenue A/c
42,815
8,796
£1,960
Closing net assets
£ 238,039
£ 246,835
£248,795
41. The actuarial valuation of the Scheme as at 30 June 2004 stated that the total net assets were £248,795.  The actuarial report for this valuation, dated 13 April 2005, gave a split of the Scheme’s net assets as Mr Speed (£62,478), Mr Burrell (£130,255) and Mr Salter (£56,062), which according to the Actuary’s report were the splits advised by the Company.

42. Unaudited accounts for the Scheme for the year ending 30 June 2005 stated net withdrawals from dealing with members of 5,802 (made up of benefit payments of £5,727 and expenses of £75).  Investment returns of £6,562 solely from receivable rent meant an increase in the fund of £760.  The net assets were stated to be £249,555 based on the property’s value of £250,000 less sundry creditors of £162 and an outstanding loan of £283 from NatWest Bank).

43. Unaudited accounts for the Scheme for the year ending 30 June 2006 stated net withdrawals from dealing with members of 5,744 (made up of benefit payments of £5,727 and expenses of £17).  Investment returns of £16,030 solely from receivable rent meant an increase in the fund of £10,286.  The net assets were stated to be £259,841 based on the property’s value of £250,000 and sundry debtors of £10,000 less sundry creditors of £159.

44. James Hay’s business was split up in 2006 following a review by Santander, who in 2004 had acquired Abbey National.  Rowanmoor was formed in September 2006 from a management buyout of the SSAS and associated consultancy business of James Hay.
45. A Deed of Removal and Appointment of Trustee (and of Amendment) was completed on 8 August 2006.  James Hay Pension Trustees Limited was replaced by Rowanmoor Trustees Limited.

46. Separately, a new Definitive Trust Deed and Rules for the Scheme were also adopted from 8 August 2006.

47. Unaudited accounts for the Scheme for the period 1 July 2005 to 5 April 2007 were prepared.  There is therefore some overlap with earlier accounts.  The financial statements for this period stated net withdrawals from dealing with members of 10,039 (made up of benefit payments of £10,022 and expenses of £17).  Investment returns of £20,325 solely from receivable rent meant an increase in the fund of £10,286.  The net assets were stated to be £259,841 based on the property’s value of £250,000 and sundry debtors of £10,000 less sundry creditors of £159.

48. In a letter dated 2 April 2008 to Rowanmoor, which was copied to Mr Speed, Mr Burrell said:
”We discussed the aspect of fund shares in our meeting with you on the 26th March and again in the conversation with [Mr Salter] on the 31st March.  From these discussions, it appears that the basis of the fund data with James Hay/Rowanmoor inherited when you took over the Scheme may not have been interpreted correctly by the previous administrators.

Since the time that [Mr Speed] was allocated a pension, we have made serious attempts to try to obtain information from the Pension Scheme administrators, which would help us to understand the process of the share divide.  We made written proposals for the way that the value of the property (Tuscan Studios) should be re-assessed for the benefit of [Mr] Speed and have always assumed that there would be some way of linking [Mr Speed’s] pension share to the change in the property value.

We have, since the start of the Pension Scheme, regularly provided information on the workings of the fund in the form of spreadsheets
 “Pension Fund Assessment of Holdings”, showing income, contributions and our interpretation of shares.  These have all been based on our assumption that [Mr Speed] did not share in the total fund, but rather, had an interest in the property value.  You have now advised that we have been mistaken in this assumption and instead, [Mr Speed] shares in the Pension Scheme assets.  We have never received any feedback to indicate that the methodology which we were using was incorrect and this misunderstanding may have contributed to the present situation.

At the time that [Mr Speed’s] pension was initially assessed, it was accepted that he had a share of 25.08% of the total value of the fund.  Since that time, contributions (paid in the years 1996 to 2001) have been provided by the remaining members and pension payments have been made to [Mr Speed].  We would expect these factors to have affected the percentage of shares relative to the time of application of the payments.  According to our recent discussions with you, this does not appear to have happened.  We would like to agree on how this can be dealt with.  Considering that a triennial review is taking place, it would be of great benefit to get this aspect resolved ahead of the issue of the review.”

49. Following a letter from Mr Speed of 3 April, Rowanmoor replied on 25 April 2008 saying the meeting of 26 March between them and Messrs Burrell and Salter was not formally minuted.  Rowanmoor confirmed the main issue discussed was the sale of Tuscan Studios.  To facilitate the vacant possession sale of the property, the Trustees needed to agree the terms on which the lease to SSAL would be surrendered and independent advice was required regarding the amount of the surrender premium to obtain vacant possession.  Meanwhile, Drivers & Norris, a firm of surveyors (among other things) had carried out this assessment and wrote to Mr Burrell on 18 April 2008, with a copy being passed to Mr Speed on 21 April, giving a surrender premium payable of £300,000.

50. Also discussed in that meeting was the question of the amount owed to the Scheme in respect of rental arrears from SSAL and the amount due to SSAL to re‑imburse it for payments the company had made on behalf of the Scheme.  An assessment by Mr Burrell of the offset against the lease surrender premium had derived a ‘rounded up’ figure of £105,000 giving a net surrender premium of up to £195,000 being paid by the Scheme to SSAL.
51. On the subject of the allocation of the fund between the members, Rowanmoor told Mr Speed in their letter to him that having reviewed their files they considered the allocation of approximately 25% of the fund was supported by information and copy correspondence dating back to 1997 and in particular Duncan Lawrie’s letter of 12 February 1997 and Mr Speed’s letter of 4 March 1997 showed his remaining interest of £55,175 equated to just over 25% of the value of the property.  They concluded by saying the property was then, and remains, the only principal assets of the Scheme and this percentage had been carried over into subsequent actuarial valuations and would be applicable today to the proceeds from the sale less the net lease surrender premium.
52. Rowanmoor wrote to Mr Burrell on 30 April 2008 noting the calculation of the amount owed to the Scheme and confirmed that that appeared reasonable and acceptable to them.  They had asked Mr Speed for his formal approval.  On the subject of Mr Speed’s share, Rowanmoor said,

”… his remaining interest … was expressed as 25.08% of the gross value of the property.  On the basis that this was the allocation basis agreed between the trustees at the time I see no reason why this should not be applied today as it has in the past”.
53. On 7 May 2008 Mr Burrell sent a letter to Rowanmoor saying he understood the Scheme would be fined a large sum if the outstanding rent was not remedied.  The protracted sale had resulted in increased expenses and they thought SSAL should settle for £145,000 of which £105,000 would revert to the Scheme as back rent.  Whilst Drivers & Norris had given a figure of £300,000 as an equitable amount under present circumstances, SSAL was not asking for that sum.
54. A meeting was held on 14 May 2008.  Those present were Mr Speed and his wife, Mr Speed’s financial adviser and Mr Burrell.  There were no minutes for that meeting, but the following day Mr Speed wrote to Rowanmoor (which was copied to the solicitor conducting the sale of the property and Mr Burrell).  Among other things he said,
”Your letter to me dated 25th April 2008 regarding my share of the fund at 25.08% agrees with my understanding of the position with regard to the share split of the pension fund.  Duncan Lawrie’s letter to [Mr] Burrell dated 27th March 1997 outlines the position in that my share of the fund to be …”

55. On 12 June 2008 Tuscan Studios was sold for £1,170,000.  After deductions for the net Lease Surrender Premium (allowing for rent owed with interest), insurance and fees, the sum of £1,103,361.94 was paid to the Scheme’s bank account.
56. On 30 October 2008 Mr Speed wrote to Mr Burrell about the completion of the fund and saying its disinvestment was now long overdue.  Mr Speed said he had tried to be patient but a number of promised dates made had passed with no action by him on providing the information Rowanmoor and the actuaries were seeking in order to complete their work.  As Mr Burrell was the one responsible for the financial records on behalf of the Trustees, he considered that surely it was possible for him to provide the information they were calling for.  He stated that if there was a problem the situation must be aired and not remained concealed.  Mr Speed said he was not willing to wait any longer for he felt he had waited long enough to enjoy the benefits which had accrued to him.  Mr Speed gave until 14 November for the information to be provided, otherwise he would seek advice.
57. SSAL effectively ceased trading in December 2008 and has subsequently been wound up.
58. Rowanmoor wrote to Mr Speed on 23 December 2008 saying that its actuaries had calculated his share of the fund based on (i) a starting point of June 1997 when he started drawing his benefits and a fund at that time of £55,176 (ii) the pension payments made to him, (iii) contributions received into the Scheme in respect of the other members since that time, and (iv) the valuation of the fund at various points based on information from the Scheme’s Accounts and information held on their file.  They determined that his share of the fund as at 5 April 2008 was £311,191 and the maximum pension that he could draw from the Scheme was £33,982 per annum up to age 75.  They indicated that this increase could be backdated to 5 April 2008.  As well as asking Mr Speed to complete a Pension Review Form, they said they required confirmation that both Mr Burrell and Mr Salter were in agreement with the revised fund split.
59. Mr Burrell replied to Mr Speed on 2 January 2009 saying they had still not resolved with Rowanmoor the issues that were concerning them over the way the fund should be divided.  Mr Burrell further said Mr Salter and him had been adamant that this issue should be done first so as to allow the calculation to be acceptable to all parties.  Unfortunately Rowanmoor had provided an award which they would not agree to until their concerns were satisfied.
60. Further correspondence ensued on 6 February 2009 between Mr Burrell and Rowanmoor, which Mr Salter and Mr Speed were copied in on.  Mr Burrell stated that the then current supplemental Rules allowed leeway in determining the basis of awards.  He raised certain questions and commented that Rowanmoor’s letter to Mr Speed on fund allocation made no reference of the arrangements proposed in Duncan Lawrie’s letter of 27 March 1997 and he could not see how the list of considerations was compatible with that proposal.  He also said,
”Your letter implies that [Duncan Lawrie’s] letter “confirms their suggestion”.  I believe that it would be more accurate to assume that it offered a proposal, as the letter goes on to invite comments.  That the formula omits reference to Scheme expenses, (at that time the Scheme was paying around £8,800 a year in interest), is a fundamental mistake, and my letter to [Mr Speed] of the 4th April 1997 (copy to Duncan Lawrie) expressed the view that this was not the way forward.  I have used the figure of 25.08% (for want of an alternative and relative only to property valuations), for reserving a fund for [Mr Speed] in finance reports which allow a proportional split between [Mr Salter] and myself (as confirmed in the letter to [James Hay] 20th Feb 2002).
Our notes of the meeting … show that you thought that the percentage suggested in [Duncan Lawrie’s] letter should be used in the valuation of the award and that the resulting allocation would need to take account of actuarial considerations which would affect a reduction of the amount.  Also, deductions would arise from the exclusion of contributions (indexed to the dates when applied) and the effect of the improvement works to the offices made by the company.  It was therefore a surprise to us that your award to [Mr Speed] exceeded the 25.08 percentage of the current assets.

Our fundamental issue is whether the only possible interpretation of the situation is that [Mr Speed] has unequivocally held a full interest in the Scheme (and the developing fund) after the award of his pension in October 1996.  If this is the case, we see no point in invoking the formula proposed in [Duncan Lawrie’s] letter of the 22nd March 1997 as he simply has a personal share of the fund which includes the eventual value of Tuscan Studios.

If (as we had assumed) he shares in a revised valuation of Tuscan Studios; then the way that this upgrade takes place has never been adequately defined.

61. Rowanmoor replied on 2 March 2009 confirming that a member’s share of the fund was based on contributions and transfers in received for that member, less pension payments and other benefit payments plus their proportion of the net investment return.  It said all cash flows, including expenses such as maintenance and mortgage payments and including increases and decreases in the value of assets, such as the property value, were included in the net investment return.  Further, there was no distinction made between different members, deferred members or pensioners when calculating the split of fund.  All assets were held in common and each person benefits from any increases or suffers any losses from falls in the fund value on a proportionate basis.  This was the standard way in which fund splits were calculated.  Deferred members and pensioners remained as Trustees and therefore must be in agreement with any decisions made.  As the Scheme’s Independent Trustee, Rowanmoor Trustees Limited, must also be in agreement.  Rowanmoor also pointed out that the 25.08% figure was based on the property value alone and did not take into account the outstanding mortgage.  Mr Speed therefore had a much higher percentage of the actual fund value at the date he retired.  Its actuaries, based on the starting point for the calculation on a fund share of £55,175 as at 30 June 1997 out of a total fund value of £129,264, had calculated an approximate 43% share.  So Mr Speed’s eventual percentage share of the fund used was approximately 28% which was considerably lower than the starting point of 43%.  Comment was also given about how any improvement works carried out on the Scheme’s property would have to be taken into account as part of the settlement between the Scheme and the Company when the property was sold.  Attention was drawn to the fact that any increase in pension for Mr Speed must be paid before 5 April 2009 otherwise he would lose the option to take the higher pension in the current reference year, 5 April 2008 to 4 April 2009.  
62. Mr Burrell’s letter of 28 March 2009 to Rowanmoor noted they had stated there was no alternative to the method of calculating the award and that was the standard way of dealing with the situation.  The respondents found it disconcerting going over old ground but restated their problem of reconciling the current situation with what they were told up to and including the meeting of 26 March 2008.  They said they had been trying to come up with a response to resolve the situation and Mr Burrell’s thoughts were to either use the 25.08% recommended percentage as a substitute for the starting percentage of 43% or, alternatively, to apply the percentage simply to the net receipt for Tuscan Studios and deduct the indexed pension payments made.  They were aware that the Rules of the pension fund allowed the Trustees freedom to direct the amount of sums awarded and Rowanmoor had said during a telephone conversation with Mr Salter that “the Trustees decide the pot share”.  Further, with regard to the value of upgrading of the office, SSAL notified the advisors of the intention to “ring-fence” the enhancement from the outset (which Mr Speed disputes) and made reference to the letter requesting trustees’ permission to carry out the works (11th June 1996) and in later correspondence (Mr Burrell now says they have not been able to find any correspondence in confirmation of ring-fencing the enhancement).  They assumed this would be dealt with in the settlement, but they would willingly disregard this aspect if an overall settlement could be agreed.
63. On 2 April 2009 Mr Speed’s financial adviser confirmed to the Pensions Advisory Service that he would not negotiate from the position as outlined to him in Rowanmoor’s letter of 23 December 2008 and as the respondents did not accept this position mediation was not possible.

64. On 17 June 2009 Drivers and Norris wrote to SSAL setting out the value of the improvement works.  They said the extension of 46% floor area contributed 75% of the value to the ground floor.  Based on the sale figure (£1.17 million) for 259 sq metres and a ground floor area of 100 sq metres that left the ground floor with 38.61% of the whole which in monetary terms would equate to £451,737.  In their opinion the extension’s value was £338,803 (being 75% of £451,737) with the minimum value being £207,799 (i.e. 46% of £451,737).

65. Rowanmoor emailed Mr Burrell on 27 July 2009 incorrectly saying that the ‘virtual’ contributions were not recorded as contributions in the accounts and noted that Mr Burrell and Mr Salter thought the cost of £17,500 was a reasonable estimation.  Rowanmoor thought it might be possible to treat these payments as contributions provided that there was agreement to this from all members/trustees.  If there was unanimous consent the Actuary would be able to treat the amount of contributions as additions to Mr Burrell’s and Mr Salter’s interest in the Scheme.

66. Rowanmoor emailed Mr Burrell again on 8 September 2009 saying that as Mr Speed had made an application to the Pensions Ombudsman about the allocation of the fund, Mr Speed was not therefore willing for Rowanmoor to consider the question of the ‘virtual’ contributions.

Summary of Mr Speed’s position [as put by his representative]
67. Mr Speed is unaware of any meeting in 1997 and says no agreement was discussed, reached or put in writing with either the Pensioneer Trustee or with the other trustees.  The details of how Mr Speed’s pension benefits would be calculated are as detailed in his letter of 15 May 2008 to Rowanmoor and reflected the position set out in Duncan Lawrie’s letter dated 27 March 1997.

68. The respondents see this 1997 basis as a starting point whereas for Mr Speed this is the method by which he has always expected his pension benefits to be calculated and not a point from which his pension share would be diminished.

69. No arrangement has been agreed that would allow for the increase in the property value achieved through development and expansion to be stripped out and effectively isolated solely for the benefit of those members yet to take benefits or otherwise for the building costs of development to be deducted from Mr Speed’s share.

70. Whilst pension payments varied slightly in the earlier years, Mr Speed has not received any meaningful or sustained increase to his pension over a period of 13 years.

71. Rowanmoor has been trying for some months to explain various aspects of this Scheme and the split of assets to the satisfaction of the respondents.  This dispute has prevented Mr Speed’s pension income from being increased.  Rowanmoor had suggested this increase could be backdated to 5 April 2008 had this been resolved by April 2009.  As Mr Speed reached 75 in August 2009 Rowanmoor has advised that his income will need to be reduced by up to 15% as he will move to Alternatively Secured Pension.
72. HMRC technical pages say a nomination must actually be made in the year before the change is to take effect.  This does not square with what Rowanmoor are saying that Mr Speed’s increased payments can be backdated to 5 April 2008 as a nomination by Mr Speed would have needed to have been made in the year before which was prior to the Scheme asset being sold.  Rowanmoor has told him this was “actuarial licence”.

73. Rowanmoor is essentially in agreement with Mr Speed’s position as set out in the letter dated 23 December 2008 from them to Mr Speed.
74. As Rowanmoor’s letter of 2 March 2009 has failed to resolve the dispute an impasse has been reached.

75. Towards the end of this investigation, Mr Speed said he is agreeable for the Pension Fund calculations to be reworked from his retirement in October 1996 with preferably the actuarial calculations being carried out by Rowanmoor in order to save time.  The proposed basis on which he is happy to seek agreement is as follows:

· Expenses should be shared in proportion to the three members’ fund share;

· Rent should be shared in proportion to the three members’ fund share;

· Benefit payments allocated from the respective member’s fund share;

· Contributions allocated to the respective members’ fund share, particularly the allocation of £8,750 to Mr Burrell and £8,750 to Mr Salter;

· The costs of the development/extension should be shared in proportion to the three members’ fund shares as should the profits derived from the sale of the original building and the development/extension.

Summary of the respondents’ position  
76. On the issue of refusing to accept the rules of the Scheme, they have never denied the rules; they have asked Rowanmoor for explanations on their interpretation.

77. Originally they specifically asked whether “the share” would be related to the fund or the building valuation.  The reply was that it was essential to “ring-fence” Mr Speed’s share.  They believe that “income withdrawal” was not an option in the rules of the Scheme when Mr Speed retired and his fund crystallized at that time subject to adjustment for the property’s uncertain valuation in 1996.
78. There was no response from Mr Speed or Duncan Lawrie to their letter of 4 April 1997 and so the issue was not resolved.  They made another attempt to define the share arrangements the following year as shown in the attached letter to Mr Speed of 28 May 1998 and the “situation report” dated 27 May 1998, which was also sent to James Hay.  Again, there was no reaction or resolution.

79. The share of the Fund was assumed to be based upon the advice given in Duncan Lawrie’s letter of 27th March 1997 recommending ring-fencing and the basis of 25.08% share.  That this basis was accepted by all parties up until very recently is confirmed in documents including letters dated 2 April 2008, 30 April 2008 and 15 May 2008.  Indeed, when Mr Burrell met with Mr Speed and his adviser in 2008 there was no doubt that they all believed that this approach was going to form the basis of the settlement.  Information was given for the valuations on this basis, with Mr Burrell acting for SSAL and not as a trustee.
80. They have always maintained that the fund share for each member should be a proportion of the fund assets related to the contributions made for them – up to the time when their share is assessed for commencement of their pension.  They assumed that Mr Speed’s fund would be fixed (or ring-fenced) following the event of his pension coming into payment, save only for a review of the value of the property.

81. In response to the allegations that they wish to challenge the way the assets are divided, they only wish for the current award to be reviewed so that it accords with the member trustee’s intentions and is fair to all parties.  They challenged the award made by Rowanmoor in their letter of 23rd December 2008 as it does not accord with the advice on the sharing of the fund previously promulgated by the Pension Scheme Advisors, as set out in Duncan Lawrie’s letter of 27 March 1997, and accepted by all parties up to the time of the award, and they do not believe that Rowanmoor’s proposal is equitable.  It disregards the 25.08% basis and replaced it with a new higher percentage.
82. They have continually been seeking explanations for the apparent change of methodology, including up to their letter of 2 January 2009.  This has involved attempting to find alternative ways which would be acceptable to all.  In an attempt to resolve this matter, they wrote and offered to accept Rowanmoor’s award provided that an adjustment was made to take account of the effective contributions made by Mr Salter and Mr Burrell with respect to improvements to Tuscan Studios.  This was rejected by Mr Speed in September 2009.

83. They believe that the responses from the Scheme’s administrators have mainly been misleading and contradictory.  They have found advice inconsistent with no valid explanation offered for the change.  They have found that the advisers have been unwilling to take their requests into consideration whilst their own methods appear unchallengeable for reasons they cannot understand.
84. The Rules of the Scheme give responsibilities and powers to the Trustees as confirmed to them by Rowanmoor, and in particular that the Trustees decide the pot share.  They were discouraged; with the reply that the actuarial approach is an industry standard and so cannot be amended.

85. When faced with the deadline for approving the award to allow an increase in pension payment to Mr Speed, they did propose a provisional interim arrangement to allow an increase in payments but Rowanmoor considered this was not possible.
86. They are concerned that the revision of Mr Speed’s pension has been deferred but the other two beneficiaries are also affected due to the delay in resolving these issues.  Mr Burrell was entitled to a pension from June 2008 and is currently receiving none.  They are appealing the present award mainly because they have no confidence that it has been correctly evaluated and question if this is another example of actuarial licence.
87. They take Rowanmoor’s letter of 28 July 2010 to be a fair and open summary of the situation in contrast to the rigid closed stance which Rowanmoor had previously been taking and which they believe inhibited the obtaining of a reasonable agreement.  Though there are parts of the letter that they do not agree with, such as the assumption that Mr Speed’s fund share could possibly equate to 25.08% of the final sale value which has never been confirmed or accepted, and that none of the trustees had questioned that rent was assumed to be offset by pension received (the method of which had not explicitly been made to them).  Further, there is still no mention as to the allocation of the payment in 1997 in respect of the extension.
88. They feel that the responsibility for referring the dispute to an expert did not lie with them, though they accept the sentiment that all parties bear some responsibility for this situation.  As a result of the Ombudsman’s investigation, they believe that they were justified in making the challenge to the Award prepared by Rowanmoor.  Having made this challenge they were aware of the need to urgently resolve the issue and vigorously attempted to find an acceptable alternative with Rowanmoor, up to and beyond the date that Mr Speed referred his complaint.  They were not a party to Mr Speed’s enquiries to the Pensions Advisory Service in March 2009 or their advice that he could seek arbitration.  In unilaterally deciding against negotiation Mr Speed was the only trustee aware that negotiation would not be possible, and so presumably he should have instigated the process to resort to an expert if this was the correct interpretation of the Rules.  Mr Speed’s position only came to light during the Ombudsman’s investigations.  Prior to this, it would have been premature for them to have invoked the resolution by an expert.
89. As a result of this investigation and having subsequently seen Mr Speed’s comments of 4 August 2011 about a proposed basis they believe that they have now reached a basis for an agreement and will refer this matter to Rowanmoor for their action.

Rowanmoor’s Position (as an interested party)
90. The role of Pensioneer Trustee has been abolished under the terms of the 2004 Finance Act but they have continued as the Independent Trustee since A Day (6 April 2006).  As an independent trustee they seek to act impartially between the member trustees.
91. The Trustees have discretion as to how the assets of the Scheme are split within the limits of the Trust Deed and Rules (and any overriding legislation).

92. The 1994 Trust Deed and Rules are unclear as to how a pensioner’s share of fund should be determined.  This could then lead to the assumption that a pensioner’s benefit is as defined in Rule 4 and thus be a defined benefit.  Annual increases are allowed under Rule 11 but no provision is made for reduction.

93. This is in practice unworkable as the benefits are supported by a fund from which the active members have a specific entitlement, and where there is no provision for a reduction of the pensioner’s benefits.  Any allocation of funds from the active members would not be allowed as this would be a reduction in their Member’s Credit.  Similarly, there is no reference in the Rules to the utilisation of any investment surplus accruing on the pensioner’s share of the fund other than the capability of granting pension increases within (under the old legislation) Inland Revenue maxima.

94. The pension payable from the Scheme were it to be a defined benefit rather than being linked to underlying assets would have required the explicit requirement for the sponsoring employer to fund/finance any shortfall of assets to support the pension.  No such provision is included within the Rules.

95. The only workable assumption was that though the trust deed did not specifically define the pensioner’s share of fund as is described for active members, an approach similar to that for the active members’ fund share has to apply given that it is a money purchase scheme and the value of assets can fall.

96. Legislation changed in April 2006, and new Scheme Rules put in place in August 2006 to reflect these changes.  This meant that pensions paid from a SSAS as at 5 April 2006 were then deemed to be unsecured pension and hence Mr Speed had an unsecured pension fund.  This made explicit the only workable assumption under the old rules, i.e. that a member’s pension was linked to his share of fund.

97. The 2006 Trust Deed & Rules defines Accumulated Credit in Rule 1.1 and there is discretion given to the trustees under the phrase ‘any other matters which the Trustees consider appropriate’, which effectively gives the trustees powers which could include linking a member’s fund share to a specific asset – in this case the property.

98. There is no explicit agreement recorded as to how the member trustees wished the pensioners’ benefits to be determined but there is much correspondence about it.  The actuarial valuation reports were prepared for the purpose of determining the funding for the active members.  The fund split on each occasion was provided by the member trustees and were used to justify the pension being paid to Mr Speed.  No question was raised by any of the trustees regarding how the fund was split in these reports.

99. If the property had been revalued to a higher amount then Mr Speed may have been entitled to a higher pension, but this may also have led to his pension being greater than the ‘notional commercial rent’ and so his percentage share of the property may have reduced.  On this basis, Mr Speed has not been disadvantaged from the non revaluation of the property as he has retained a higher percentage of the property which in the end was sold at a much higher value.
100. The member trustees must come to a mutual agreement as to how the fund is to be shared between them within the boundaries set by the Trust Deed and Rules.

101. Looking at the correspondence, the weight of evidence would indicate that Mr Speed was entitled to 25.08% of the property value, which has been the working assumption.  His entitlement to 25.08% of the ‘notional commercial rent’ has been assumed to have been offset by the pension payment made to him.  Based on this, Mr Speed could be entitled to £293,500 (i.e. 25.08% of £1.17 million).  This is a possible basis on which the member trustees should seek agreement.

102. However, when the share of fund was requested for Mr Speed in 2008 to review his unsecured pension the share was calculated based on each member’s credit which was assessed from the fund split as at 30 June 1998
 (after Mr Speed’s tax-free cash lump sum had been paid and after ‘virtual contributions’ had been received) plus contributions subsequently paid less pension payments subsequently paid to Mr Speed.  As no external fund value has been provided, the average annual internal rate of return has been used over the full period.  Initially Mr Speed’s share was calculated as £311,191 out of a total fund value of £1,109,819 at 30 June 2008.  However, an error in this calculation has come to light and the correct figure was £303,391 (with corresponding revised amounts of £538,672 and £267,756 for Mr Burrell and Mr Salter respectively).  Rowanmoor also says, if the net assets of £127,042 (as opposed to £123,042 in the actuarial valuation) are used at the starting point of 30 June 1998, the splits would then be £543,096; £272,106 and £294,617 for Messrs Burrell, Salter and Speed respectively (i.e. the £4,000 rent is apportioned to Messrs Burrell and Salter rather than apportioned to all three).
103. It does not believe there is necessarily a right answer to the question of what was the value of Mr Speed’s share of fund as at June 2008 when the property was sold.  They do, however, believe that a reasonable range of value is between £293,500 and £303,391.  It is for the member trustees to agree on this.

Conclusions

104. The financial interaction between the Company and the Scheme became intertwined which has made the Scheme’s affairs a lot more complicated and messy than it ought to have been.  This has made my task significantly more difficult as parties’ views vary widely.  It is for that reason that I have set out in some detail the background to this dispute.  

105. At base however, the dispute arises because the fund splits calculated by Mr Burrell post Mr Speed’s retirement are based on an ill-founded basis.  As a result there is perhaps a good argument for saying that everything should be peeled back to the time of Mr Speed’s retirement and fund splits calculated for all members afresh.  My reasons, which follow, follow this basis. 
106. Accordingly I first note that shortly before Mr Speed began drawing his benefits the Trustees received in July 1996 different valuations for Tuscan Studios from two surveyors.  No detailed explanations were sought from these surveyors about the variation in value of the same property.  It would appear the rental income used by these surveyors for the ground floor differed (and possibly for the first floor too).  The different property values may be partly explained by the different rental incomes being used in the assessments, since higher rental payments will be more attractive to any buyer and so affect the price which any buyer is willing to pay for the property.  Alternatively, there may be other reasons, for example underlying redevelopment value or errors by the valuers.  But it is not for me to conjecture why the valuations differed so much.
107. The Trustees seem however to have initially agreed upon a figure of £220,000 at Mr Speed’s retirement which was approximately in between the two figures of £180,000 and £270,000, though the arbitrariness of this figure and the dangers of it were recognised in section 4 of the notes dated 16 September 1996 entitled “proposal for pension arrangements for Mr Speed for comment”.
108. Comment has been made by the parties on the improvements made to the property towards the end of 1996, how these were initially funded from monies held outside of the Scheme, i.e. paid for by SSAL, and how this should be taken into account within their respective shares of the Fund.  Before embarking further, my thoughts on this matter follows.
109. It is unclear why the cost of this development/extension was not debited from the Scheme’s own resources by the Trustees.  Presumably, though, the Scheme had either insufficient or no liquid assets (i.e. cash) to pay for this work.  Other than contributions, investment income in the form of rent was the only other source of cash flow to the Scheme.  Demands on the Scheme’s cash flow could include various items, in particular but not confined to paying the interest on the loan, the repayment of loan capital as well as more latterly the payment of Mr Speed’s benefits.  Even if rent was outstanding and some or all of this money, paid by the Company for the development, was instead treated as rent, all it may mean is that less rent was owed to offset against the Lease Surrender Premium due to SSAL in 2008.  Since Messrs Burrell and Salter were shareholders in SSAL, they could have gained in this way from a higher Lease Surrender Premium.  But neither the 30 June 1996 nor 1997 accounts show any debtor or creditor to suggest rental income was owed by the Company at that time.  Given the impending retirement of Mr Speed and restrictions on further borrowing, increasing the Scheme’s borrowing was probably not feasible.  Even if it were possible (which it is not) for this money to be treated as a loan and repaid, with interest, to SSAL in 2008 out of the sale proceeds, Messrs Burrell and Salter would have ultimately benefitted as shareholders.  But, in any event, this payment has been treated in the Company’s and the Scheme’s accounts as employer contributions for Messrs Burrell and Salter.  So the cost of the extension works has effectively come from the Scheme in a roundabout way.  That was a decision for the Company back in 1996/97 and as it was a legitimate way of handling that payment I see no reason to interfere with that now.
110. Notwithstanding the valuation anomalies, the heart of this complaint is the mechanism that should be used to determine the proper amount of Mr Speed’s share (or pension pot/fund value) of the overall Fund post retirement (as well as the proper shares of the Fund for the other two beneficiaries).  I agree with Rowanmoor that the 1994 Trust Deed and Rules are silent on the issue of a pensioner’s credit.  This is perhaps not so surprising if one considers the limited five year period, without further Inland Revenue agreement, in which the ‘1994’ Rules, specifically rule 18 (b), gave members to defer purchasing an annuity which was more restrictive than the requirements of the Inland Revenue.  Obviously, the 1994 Trust Deed and Rules only applied at the time of Mr Speed’s retirement and up to 8 August 2006, when they were then superseded by the 2006 Trust Deed and Rules.
111. Duncan Lawrie’s letter of 27 March 1997 said the main reason of reassessing the pension was to take account of both the investment performance of the fund and the change in annuity rates.  The parties appear to have overlooked the comments in this paragraph and instead concentrated on comments in other paragraphs within that letter.

112. Whilst Mr Burrell has highlighted that this letter refers to “ring-fencing”, in my opinion the fact that something (in this case part of the overall fund) is ring-fenced or assigned to one particular purpose so as to restrict its use does not necessarily mean that the amount so ring-fenced cannot change in value (up or down) as the value of the total “pot” shifts.  Indeed, the letter goes on to say that they need to agree how Mr Speed’s share of the overall fund should be valued periodically.  That suggests the value will alter.
113. The basis suggested in that letter took the starting point as 25.08% of the property’s value (a far higher percentage applied when expressed as a percentage of the Scheme’s net assets) and adjusted that percentage by adding any share of investment income in the form of rent due less pension payments made, with the view of re‑setting the percentage at the triennial valuation.  This clearly has not been happening in practice, as evidenced by Mr Burrell’s spreadsheets of book keeping entries (including fund splits) and the actuarial valuation reports.

114. Mr Burrell was, in my opinion, quite right to say that this formula omitted to take into account expenses, such as interest on the loan, which would have impacted on the performance of the fund.  A more appropriate way might have been to express benefits as a percentage of the net assets of the Scheme rather than the property’s value since benefits are paid out of the Scheme’s own resources.  Rowanmoor has now performed 2008 calculations which, in the main, address this failing of the suggested 1997 basis by using the net investment return on the Fund (i.e. taking expenses into account) from 30 June 1998 onwards, though this modified basis has not been agreed by the Trustees either.  As Rowanmoor’s 2008 basis uses the starting point of Mr Speed’s share of fund as £55,176 at 30 June 1998 it also assumes that between Mr Speed’s retirement and 30 June 1998 his share of the fund did not alter due to his share of any rental income, expenses or pension payments made to him.  Using such a broad-brush approach for one individual is less appropriate in a very small scheme with few members/assets, where its effect is more significant, than with a large scheme with hundreds of members and millions of assets.  That is demonstrated by how just one rental payment of £4,000 being re-allocated has impacted on the members’ eventual shares of the overall Fund (see paragraph 102).
115. Nonetheless, other correspondence indicates Mr Burrell wanted an even simpler formula, as outlined in his letter to Mr Speed of 28 May 1998.  Whilst a simpler approach might have been easier and so more cost effective to administer, the trouble with such an approach is, in my view, that it will introduce an element of unfairness.  Although adjusting for cash flow is more complicated, the underlying reason why shifting proportions of the share of fund are derived is to ensure fairness among the beneficiaries.
116. So the applicant and the respondents seem, to varying degrees, to have considered the basis set out in Duncan Lawrie’s letter of 27 March 1997.  Mr Speed seems to have accepted that this suggested basis (in full) was how his share of the fund should be determined.  Mr Burrell seems to have wanted a simpler version of it.  To a lesser or greater extent, there are deficiencies with both views for the aforementioned reasons.
117. Under the ‘1994’ Trust Deed, decisions had to be made by the majority of the Trustees.  There were four trustees; the applicant, the two respondents and Dunlaw.  So at least three of these parties had to agree a basis.  There does not appear to be any provision for a casting vote in the event of a stalemate (i.e. 2 v 2).  However, there is no evidence of any formal decision being made by the Trustees as to how Mr Speed’s share of the overall Fund would be calculated going forward despite a lot of correspondence about it.  To a large extent, his share should have continued to be calculated as it was before retirement with the exception that benefit payments to him would have reduced his pension pot/fund value.
118. Clearly the matter of what methodology to use has been raised at various times.  Whilst Mr Burrell has used his simplified basis of 25.08% of the property’s value when notifying share splits after Mr Speed’s retirement (though the 2001 valuation still used £55,176 on a property value of £250,000, i.e. 22.07%), this appears to have been used in the absence of a proper methodology having been agreed.  I therefore do not think that the legal principle of estoppel has been satisfied given that there is ongoing, albeit on an adhoc basis, correspondence indicating that no formal basis had been agreed.  Mr Speed does not appear to have relied on this simplified basis and indeed is arguing against it.
119. As I have already said, the Scheme is now administered/governed by the ‘2006’ Trust Deed and Rules and includes a definition for accumulated credit, which applies to members, deferred pensioners and, if appropriate, pensioners.  As Mr Speed did not secure his benefits with an annuity, which assisted SSAL (of which Messrs Burrell and Salter benefitted as owners of the business), it is appropriate for this definition to also include him.  It should also be recognised that Mr Speed took the risk of keeping his share of the fund invested whilst drawing his benefits from it.  Had the property value gone down, his pension may have had to have been reduced.  Having borne that risk, there is no reason why his share of the fund should also not share in any gain from any upside return.
120. The 2006 Trust gives the trustees power to determine that part of the Fund which is payable to inter alia an individual regardless of whether that individual is a member, a deferred pensioner or a pensioner.  But in determining that part of the Fund which is payable, the Trustees have to have regard to the contributions paid, transfer amounts paid, the income and capital position of the Fund (after allowing for expenses and other deductions), and any other matters which the Trustees consider appropriate.  The Trust Deed also says the Trustees have to have regard to the advice of an Actuary, though they are not obliged to take that advice.  “Any other matters which the Trustees consider appropriate” may include items such as pension payments.  Whilst this gives the Trustees some leeway in taking anything into account, it does not in my opinion mean they can completely disregard the other issues that the Trust Deed indicates that they have to have regard to, e.g. the income and capital position of the Fund after allowing for expenses etc.  So I do not consider it appropriate to ignore either rental income or expenses.
121. The 2006 Trust Deed calls for decisions to be unanimous.  This may seem more unlikely compared with reaching a decision by majority, particularly as some of the later solutions proposed wanted to belatedly take some of the financial transactions paid for by the Company on behalf of the Scheme to be taken into account for Messrs Burrell and Salter.  This is perhaps best illustrated by the fact that the issue of ‘virtual contributions’ in respect of the improvement works was still being discussed in correspondence as late as March, July and September 2009.  This has made the financial arrangements a lot more difficult to follow than they should have been.  Indeed it has also taken time for my office to get to grips with what has been going on.  Fortunately, some matters appear to have been clarified as the case worked through. 

122. I note, though, that in the initial respondents’ submissions; they say they previously told Rowanmoor they would consider the latest (2008) award if an adjustment was made to take account of the effective contributions made for Messrs Burrell and Salter with respect to improvements to Tuscan Studios.  Whilst it has since been uncovered/clarified that the unaudited accounts for the year ending 30 June 1997 already take the costs of the improvement works into account within the contribution figure of £26,227 compared with the book keeping figure in the spreadsheet for contributions of £8,600 (with a separate amount of £17,500 shown for GF extension), the current methodology, on the face of it, does not give them credit for this.  If this and other items are amended to the way the split of net assets has been calculated prior to 30 June 1998 then agreement may therefore be possible.
123. As things stand however, the Trustees do not seem to be able to agree.  In the event of disagreement, the Trust Deed states that the matter must be referred to an expert unanimously appointed by the Trustees.  For whatever reason, this does not appear to have happened.  Although Mr Speed has brought a complaint to me, this has not been unanimously agreed by the other Trustees, though decisions by me are final and legally binding on them.

124. Even so, the Trustees have previously appointed an actuary to the Scheme.  I consider that an actuary could be suitably regarded as an expert regarding the calculation to determine the split of fund.  In some respects, the Scheme’s actuary from Rowanmoor is the de facto expert and has already given an expert view.

125. Messrs Burrell and Salter would need to have good reasons why they should depart from any actuarial advice that the appointed actuary to the Scheme had given to them.
126. Rowanmoor has used the shares of the overall fund as advised to them in 1998 and used in the actuarial valuation, because it was not queried at that time and was sent to the Inland Revenue.  The approach taken by Rowanmoor is one approach that could be taken, albeit there is a broad-brush assumption being made that rent for Mr Speed equalled his benefit payments (and his share of expenses) prior to 30 June 1998 in arriving at the members’ fund shares at this starting point in 1998.  Nevertheless, Rowanmoor’s 2008 calculations start by using the share splits which Mr Burrell has calculated (i.e. Mr Speed (£55,176), Mr Burrell (£41,617) and Mr Salter (£26,249)).  Whilst the net investment return has been used going forward from 30 June 1998, the actuary’s calculations are still based on Mr Burrell’s splits to begin with.  Since the Member Trustees are wrangling over the methodology of the share splits, the starting point uses a basis that has not been formally agreed (and a basis Mr Speed disagrees with) and then rolls the fund splits forward using a different, though proper, basis (which Mr Speed is content with but which Messrs Burrell and Salter have queried).  The upshot is the eventual answer has been questioned by the respondents who feel they have not received a full explanation.  However, I cannot be accurate as to what Mr Speed’s correct and true share should be from any of the previous calculations, and there were a range of factors at play.
127. The usual approach when assessing the members’ share of fund is to reappraise each member’s pension pot/fund value against each transaction and calculate new percentage shares based on how the revised members’ pension pots/fund values respectively compare with the Scheme’s revised net assets.  Those new percentages then apply until the percentages are reassessed and the process is repeated for each transaction.  Not every transaction will affect all members in the same way.  For example, investment income (i.e. rent) will increase the Scheme’s net assets.  Each member’s existing pension pot/fund value at that time would be similarly increased by their respective then current percentage share of the investment income (i.e. rent), in proportion to how the member’s existing pension pot/fund value bore to the Scheme’s net assets.  Since all the members’ existing pension pots/fund values would increase in line with the same percentage that their existing pension pots/fund values bore to the net assets before such a distribution, the new percentage of each member’s increased pension pot/fund value to the increased net assets of the Scheme will not have changed, even though their pension pots/fund values have increased.  Shared expenses may have a similar but opposite effect if shared in proportion to the members’ pension pots/fund values.  Alternatively, contributions may increase certain members’ pension pots/fund values (to varying degrees) but not others.  Contributions to the Scheme will initially increase the Scheme’s bank/cash balance and thus the net assets of the Scheme.  For members where contributions are not paid, their pension pots/fund values remain the same amount but that amount when expressed as a new percentage of the increased net assets will mean a lower percentage applies.  For members for whom a contribution is paid, their pension pots/fund values will increase by the amount of the contribution and the increased amount when expressed as a percentage of the increased net assets will mean a new percentage is derived.  Conversely, benefits paid out from the Scheme will reduce the net assets of the Scheme.  A member’s pension pot/fund value will be reduced and a new percentage calculated based on the lower pension pot/fund value compared with the lower net assets.  For members where no benefits are paid to them, their pension pots/fund values will remain the same amount, but their same pension pot/fund value expressed as a percentage of the reduced net assets will mean a higher percentage applies thereafter.
128. Mr Burrell’s spreadsheet has not operated on the above basis.  Instead, Mr Speed’s (fixed) pension pot/fund value of £55,176 has been deducted from the net assets of the Scheme to leave ‘residual’ net assets of the Scheme.  Rent has been proportionally allocated to Messrs Burrell’s and Salter’s pension pots/fund values so their funds were increased by the rent, not in proportion to the Scheme’s net assets but in proportion to what amount their two pension pots/fund values bore to the ‘residual’ net assets.  Pension payments for Mr Speed were deducted from Messrs Burrell’s and Salter’s pension pots/fund values (as opposed to Mr Speed’s) so their funds decreased using the same proportional method, which seems irrational.  Similarly, the loan interest has been proportionally deducted from their two fund values while Mr Speed’s pension pot/fund value of £55,176 remains in tact.
129. Moreover, despite an additional contribution sum of either £17,627 (accounts) or £17,500 (spreadsheet) being shown, it is difficult to see that Messrs Burrell’s and Salter’s pension pots/fund values benefitted by such a sum.  Prior to this contribution, the net assets were £129,264 and the ‘residual’ net assets were £74,088 (i.e. £129,264 less £55,176).  A contribution would normally increase a person’s pension pot/fund value and the Scheme’s net assets.  But because this contribution into the Scheme was then met with an equal payment out of the Scheme to the builder for materials and labour, the net assets of the Scheme did not changed.  For instance, whilst the 30 June 1997 accounts reflect additional contributions of £17,627 (i.e. additional to £8,600) and the property’s value is shown as having increased from £200,000 at 30 June 1996 to £220,000 at 30 June 1997, i.e. an increase of £20,000, the 30 June 1997 accounts shows the contributions were outweighed by benefit and interest payments, and a change in the market value of the investments of only £2,373 (i.e. £20,000 less £17,627 in respect of the cost of development/extension).  Similarly, the spreadsheet shows net assets of £129,264, residual net assets of £74,088 with Messrs Burrell’s and Salter’s shares said to be £45,016.52 and £29,071.61 (i.e. 60.76% and 39.24% of £74,088) – notwithstanding that these are ill-founded figures to begin with.  After each member is allocated half of £17,500 (i.e. £8,750) their pension pots/fund values are shown as £53,766.52 and £37,821.61 and expressed as respective new percentages of 58.70% and 41.30% of £91,588.13.  But then their pension pots/fund values are stated to be reduced to £43,493.20 and £30,594.93 being a split of £74,088 (though 58.70% and 41.30% of £74,088 does not quite reflect the pension pots/fund values stated).  That suggests the cost of the works has come off of their pension pots/fund values.  Whilst Mr Salter’s pension pot/fund value has increased slightly, Mr Burrell’s pension pot/fund value has decreased.  The ‘residual’ net assets figure of £74,088 has been re-apportioned rather than both members’ pension pots/fund values having been increased by such a contribution.
130. It therefore seems that Mr Speed has not borne a share of the expenses of developing/extending the property in 1996 and yet Rowanmoor’s 2008 assessment results in him receiving a share of the enhanced value of the property.  One might have expected on a fairer basis for these contributions to have increased Messrs Burrell’s and Salter’s pension pots/fund values.  New percentages ought to have been calculated for all three members based on the new increased net assets of the Scheme (as opposed to the ‘residual’ net assets of the Scheme).  As all should benefit from the development, the expenses of the development/extension should then have been proportionally calculated for all three of the members’ pension pots/fund values in proportion that their respective same/new pension pots/fund values bore to the new net assets of the Scheme (i.e. £146,764).  Those proportional sums ought to be deducted from their pension pots/fund values and a new percentage ascertained based on the new net assets of the Scheme (i.e. back to £129,264) – though the property’s value perhaps ought to have been revalued at that time to recognise the increased value from the development/extension.
131. It strikes me that all parties are only seeking their fair share of the overall fund.  To my mind, none of the fund splits that Mr Burrell has derived after Mr Speed’s retirement can be relied upon to represent a totally fair share of each member’s share of fund after that time.  Hence, the assessment by Rowanmoor in 2008 using fund splits at 30 June 1998 (or 1997) is flawed from outset.  Neither is it right to say that Mr Speed’s entitlement is 25.08% of the property’s value now since this percentage takes no account of changes since 1996.  In my opinion, the fairest approach to all three beneficiaries would be to pare all three members’ share of the overall fund (i.e. of the net assets of the Scheme) to the time when Mr Speed retired in 1996 and adjust all three members’ pension pots/fund values (and the associated percentages in relation to the net assets of the Scheme) for each and every transactions since that time in a proper way.
132. All Trustees, including Mr Speed and those complained of, have delayed here.  Whilst Rowanmoor Trustees Limited (and previously James Hay Pension Trustees Limited) is not a party to the complaint, as professional trustees and the most experienced they ought to have played a more proactive lead role in resolving this matter rather than leaving the three member trustees to get on with it, which clearly they were not doing.  There should have been recognition of the inherent unfairness and so flawed basis from 1996 with which Mr Burrell had prepared the members’ pension pots/fund splits over the years and the dangers of using them.
133. The respondents have not been helped by the gaps in the documentation, particularly the earlier 1994 deed.  But the Trustees have various duties, which include a duty to act in accordance with the trust deed and rules, to act in the best interest of the scheme beneficiaries (of which Mr Speed is one), and to act properly and prudently.  The failure to not get this issue sorted out over a number of years or, more latterly, not to follow the mechanism for dealing with situations where a unanimous decision could not be reached at the point it became evident/known was certainly not responsible and constitutes maladministration.
134. Whilst the respondents consider that they had not reached the point where a unanimous decision could not be reached and so referral to an expert had not become necessary, they were aware that they did not accept/agree with Mr Speed’s or the Independent Trustees’ position on the percentage share.  Correspondence in March 2009 acknowledges they were ‘going over old ground’ so continuing to seek clarification and agreement seems not to have been fruitful.  At no time does any of the correspondence make any reference to the Trust Deed and/or Rules to see what they said the Trustees should be doing in the event of non agreement.  Indeed, the referral to an expert, as stipulated in the 2006 Trust Deed, only seems to have been raised as a direct result of this investigation.  The fact remains, though, that the method of calculating Mr Speed’s share of the Fund had not been agreed since February 1997 and been allowed to fester for over ten years which, on its own, is maladministration.  The ineptness of dealing with this matter has clearly contributed to flawed assessment splits being made, and ultimately has led to delays in revising the level of Mr Speed’s benefits when the property was sold in 2008.
135. Mr Speed has raised the issue of him not being able to draw down more of his pension pot/fund value in the form of pension payments.  If Mr Speed had drawn more of his fund, he would have less of his fund in tact today than he would otherwise have done.  It is unclear precisely when and how quickly the property’s value increased during the intervening period from 1996 to 2008.  Though I accept that Mr Speed has not been able to draw more of his fund to date, it seems he may have done well from this unsatisfactory situation/delay.  His benefits, in terms of a money purchase fund, have not suffered a financial loss and from that perspective no injustice has been caused.
136. However, while there has been no pecuniary loss, there has been non‑pecuniary injustice.  Whilst Mr Speed, as one of the trustees, is not entirely blameless, the unnecessary delays by the respondents have caused him distress and inconvenience and in recognition of that I make a suitable direction below.

137. Finally, I note that the Principal Company and only employer participating in the Scheme has ceased trading and has subsequently now been wound up.  I would highlight the Scheme’s winding up provisions, in particular clauses 26 to 30 of the 2006 Deed about cessation of participation of an employer, winding-up triggers/change of control provisions, winding up of the Scheme and securing benefits on a winding up etc.  Following the demise of SSAL there is no sign that the Trustees have given this any consideration.
Directions 
138. Irrespective of whether or not agreement on the share of fund can be now agreed, within 21 days of this determination the respondents are each to pay Mr Speed the sum of £250 (i.e. £500 in total) in respect of the distress and inconvenience caused by failing over a number of years to reach a basis for calculating Mr Speed’s share of fund post his retirement as well as more latterly not referring the issue to an expert in accordance with the ‘2006’ Trust Deed.
139. Given the comments and movement by the parties’ positions in the last three weeks (which Rowanmoor Trustees Limited has been absent from), the four Trustees, including Rowanmoor Trustees Limited, now have a final opportunity to agree a basis for the share of the Fund within two weeks following the date of this determination.  If they still cannot agree a basis upon which a share of the Fund is to be derived within those two weeks, the Trustees, using their best endeavours, are to agree upon an expert and the matter of the share of the Fund shall be determined by that expert.  In accordance with clause 8.4 of the current Trust Deed, the determination of the appropriate members’ share of the Fund by the expert shall be binding on the Trustees.
140. If the four Trustees cannot agree upon an expert within four weeks following the date of this my final Determination being issued; they should go direct to the President of the Institute of Actuaries to request him to select a suitable expert who should be an actuary of not less than 10 years experience in the valuation of small self-administered pension schemes and unconnected with Rowanmoor.  The Trustees will have to pay for the cost of this work.
JANE IRVINE 

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman 

23 September 2011
� 	Aggregate Retirement Benefit by the aggregate of (i) the Member’s pension under this Scheme and any Associated Scheme, and (ii) the pension equivalent of the Member’s Lump Sum Retirement Benefit subject to the limitations of Rule 14(a)


� The spreadsheets entitled ‘Pension Fund Assessment of Holdings’ are effectively book keeping entries.


� 	Whilst Rowanmoor’s letter of 2 March 2009 stated its figures then were based on a starting point from 30 June 1997, Rowanmoor has now decided to take the starting point as 30 June 1998 as an actuarial valuation was performed at that time and submitted to the Inland Revenue.  There is an assumption that any share of income and capital appreciation, expenses and benefit payments exactly matches each other prior to 30 June 1998 so that Mr Speed’s share of the fund at the starting point of 30 June 1998 is £55,176 at that time.
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